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Friday, March 26, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

The Board has convened this morning to hear oral submissions on a motion brought by Hydro One Networks, Inc.  The motion seeks to vary a decision of the Board which was delivered on December the 16th, 2009 in a case which had been designated as EB-2008-0272, which was a proceeding to set Hydro One Networks Inc.'s transmission rates for 2010.

This case has been designated by the Board as EB-2010-003.  We have received written submissions from the parties, and today we will hear brief oral submissions.

Sitting with me today is Cynthia Chaplin, Vice Chair of the Ontario Energy Board, and my name is Paul Sommerville.  Unless there are preliminary matters, can I have appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  My name is Donald Rogers and I appear for the applicant.  Ms. Frank is with me this morning.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, and I should say, Mr. Chairman, that if we were appearing before you for the first time, you would be referred to as Ms. Chaplin, because the signs are switched.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, my goodness.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, we will continue with the -- thanks.

MS. LEA:  Jennifer Lea for Board Staff, and I will help with the signs.

MR. WARREN:  Just for Mr. Thompson's benefit.

MR. THOMPSON:  I don't want to make another slip.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Everything is clarified at this stage.  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

MR. CROCKER:  I am David Crocker for AMPCO, and Shelley Grice is with me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

It is our intention -- we received written submissions from all parties in this case.  The proposed order of proceeding would be to have the intervenors briefly summarize their submissions in the case and provide you, then, Mr. Rogers, with the right of reply following that process.  Is that satisfactory?

MR. ROGERS:  Very well, sir, if that is your preference, yes.  I had intended to lead off, but I will do as you wish.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That, I think, would give you an opportunity to respond to all of the other submissions, and I think that would be appropriate in the circumstance.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Very well.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that is how we intend to proceed.  Mr. Warren?

MR. WARREN:  I am wondering, Mr. Sommerville, if it would be appropriate for my friend, Mr. Stephenson, to proceed, because he is going to be his characteristic articulate echo chamber, and in those circumstances we might want to respond to anything Mr. Stephenson might have to say.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson, do you have any problem with that?

MR. STEPHENSON:  None whatsoever.
Procedural Matters:


MS. LEA:  I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if I might do a brief procedural matter first.  I have been handed materials from the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and, Mr. Buonaguro, you are asking that these be entered as an exhibit.

Has Mr. Rogers had a chance to look at this?

MR. BUONAGURO:  He hasn't seen that particular printout, but it is just -- it is the actual pages that I referenced in my factum several months ago.

MS. LEA:  Okay, that's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Except for one, which is a two-page extract from the EB-2009-0096 transcript, which I sent him yesterday by e-mail.  It is very short.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, then.  Perhaps we will just call this Exhibit 1 on the motion, materials from the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I will pass those up to the Board momentarily.
EXHIBIT NO. 1:  Materials from the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. LEA:  Just while I have the microphone, Board Staff has no oral submissions on the motion today.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Panel.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I should mention at the outset we do have your written submissions.  It is not necessary to slavishly repeat them.  I know that wasn't your intention, Mr. Stephenson, but a précis is really, I think, what fits the case here.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Certainly, and that is what I am happy to do.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  As you know, Panel, there are essentially two issues in front of you that inevitably, in my submission, are interwoven.  One is the threshold question, and the second is -- assuming that the threshold has been met, the second is whether or not this is a proper case to vary.

In other words, is the error that has been identified, assuming it is one, of a sufficient nature to justify a variance?

Inevitably, the threshold issue and the merits are interwoven, and they are interwoven in this particular case.  In my submission, the question of the merits essentially turns on the issue of whether or not the Panel failed to address a material issue in the decision.  And the material issue which we say was -- failed to be addressed was the applicability of the new cost of capital report to the determination of the cost of capital for the purposes of the 2010 rates.

I don't think there is any issue that that matter - that is, the applicability of the new cost of capital report - was not addressed.  There is certainly no evidence that it was addressed, and -- but -- and, in my submission, if there was an obligation to address it, the Board has failed to provide reasons, in circumstances where reasons would be required, to justify its non-consideration or the fact of its consideration and its rejection of the 2009 cost of capital report.

So, to my mind, the issue of the threshold is actually quite an easy one, because there has been a failure to address that material issue and it has -- there is no doubt it would have a material impact on the result, depending upon whether or not it was appropriate to apply it.

If it was appropriate to apply it, it clearly would have a material impact.

That, then, just really takes us to the merits, which is:  Should the Board have taken into account the new cost of capital report?  And if the answer to that question is "no", then obviously there's no basis for -- the threshold has not been met and the merits haven't been met.

So the real question at the ends of the day is:  Should the Board have taken -- considered it in the process of making their decision?

And that issue itself has got two components, in my submission, and it is the same two components the Board has to deal with in making any decision about anything, whenever it is acting.  The first part of the question is:  Did the Board have jurisdiction to consider the new cost of capital report at the time it was setting the 2010 rates?

If the answer to that question is "no", you need to proceed no further.  If the answer to that question is "yes", we then need to proceed to the second question, which is:  Given that they had the jurisdiction, was it appropriate in all of the circumstances for it to address it and to apply it?

So jurisdiction first, merits second.

In my submission, there is no doubt that the Board had the jurisdiction to consider and apply the 2009 cost of capital report.  Why do I say that?  Well, the answer is this.  You have to go back and look at:  What was the proceeding in which -- that we're talking about?

The proceeding that we are talking about was a rate hearing.  It was the tail end of a rate hearing, but, nevertheless, it was a rate hearing, and it was for the purposes of setting 2010 rates.  And, of course, so the Board, in my submission, had the full range of the jurisdiction it always has in order -- when it is setting rates.

The important thing to think about here is this fact:  When considering what jurisdiction the Board was exercising, there is no doubt that in its decision at the end of 2009 the Board was exercising its rate-making jurisdiction because of course look at what the Board actually did.  What the Board actually did at the end of 2009 in the decision which is under dispute was to change Hydro One's rates.

It did a variety -- in a variety of ways and a variety of things, it changed the rates.  It applied -- for example, it applied a new cost of capital measure.  Not the one that Hydro One suggests was the appropriate one, but it was -- they changed it.

So the Board was exercising its rate-making authority, and in the ordinary course its obligation in exercising its rate- making authority would be to take into consideration all relevant considerations in order to determine just and reasonable rates.

It is for reasons I will get to in a moment, in my submission, self-evident the cost of capital report was a relevant consideration.


So if the Board had -- in essence, the fundamental jurisdiction it always has on a rate case, the question then becomes:  Was there anything about the unique or peculiar circumstances that arose at the end of 2009 when it was dealing with this very issue where the Board somehow didn't have its full range of jurisdiction that it ordinarily has on a rate case?

And it is possible that it didn't.  In my submission, it did, but there is an argument being put to you which was to say that you did not.  And the argument is, is that the issue had already been decided.  That is, back in -- when the initial decision in the case was made, the Board had decided the matter is the argument, and therefore the Board -- I don't think anybody has used the word but the argument is that the Board was functus, to use a Latin terms.  In other words, since the matter had already been decided, it couldn't be revisited.  If that is correct, then the Board didn't have jurisdiction and the issue didn't arise.

In my submission however, that is not the case.  What this really all turns on, in my submission, is an examination of what the Board actually did decide in the original EB-2008-0272 decision.

And that requires looking at page 52 of that decision.

It is worth turning up.  I hope you have it.  It is in the motion material somewhere.  I apologize, I have it separately.  It is very brief.

The Board writes two paragraphs with respect to cost of capital and it is really the second one that matters.

And I am just going to read it because it is brief.

The Board says as follows:
"For 2010, the Board agrees with Hydro One that September 2009 data should be used to update the cost of capital parameters.  The 2010 year is a separate test year in Hydro One's application.  It is not part of an IRM period.  It is therefore appropriate to update the cost of short-term debt and return on equity.  The Board will issue a letter to Hydro One setting out the Hydro One's 2010 cost of capital parameters in due course.  The Board expects that this will be treated as a mechanistic update."

 So that is how it was dealt with initially.

And the bottom line, in my submission, is, it is clear that the Board left the matter open.

What the Board says at the end is that they're going to issue cost of capital parameters in due course.

And the Board says that it expects that it will be treated as a mechanistic update.  It doesn't say it will be treated as a mechanistic update.  That was the Board's expectation at that time regarding a future event.  It is not a decision about anything.  It is an indication of its expectation.

But the thing that the Board clearly says is that there will be a future event.  The Board will be issuing a letter in the future setting out the cost of capital parameters.  It is not determining them at that point in time.  It is expressly deferring that issue.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I just have to stop you there.  In terms of the wording of that decision, Mr. Stephenson, it says that the Board agrees with Hydro One that the September values ought to govern the cost of capital determination.  Is that not a decision?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't that a clear decision?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, in my submission -- it says what it says.  What it is saying is that at that point in time, there was an expectation that there were going to be September 2009 values coming down the pipe.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  If the effect of that decision is that these unknown values on a process which was expected to occur in the future are the values, the only values, and that the Board is binding itself to those values, if that is how you read those words, then I agree with you, that's the decision.

In my submission, that's not what the Board is doing here.  In my submission, what the Board is saying here is:  There is a future -- there's going to be clearly a future event and the Board agrees with Hydro One that that anticipated future event will be applicable.

Now, ask yourself this question.  Let's assume for a moment that the Board changed its cost of capital methodology earlier.  That is, the new cost of capital report did not come out in December of 2009, it came out in August.  A fundamentally different methodology.

How would you read those words then is my submission.  What would we be applying?  Would we be applying the September 2009 data vis-à-vis the methodology existing at the date of the decision in May of 2009?  Or would we be doing something else?

In my submission, what matters not is not the methodology.  What matters is -- sorry.

What matters is, to the extent we're using 2009 data, the issue isn't in this case the data.  The issue is the methodology.

Hydro One submits it is entitled to the benefit of the new methodology.  Of course you can apply 2009 data to the new methodology.  I don't know what the answer it gives you.  I haven't done the math.  But this decision or, sorry, the first sentence is a reference to data.  Not methodology.

So to the extent that you're saying it is a decision with respect to -- that is final, binding and exhaustive with respect to the issue.  It is final binding and exhaustive with respect to the question of the data.  Not the methodology.

Now, as I say, I don't know whether the data when applied to the new methodology results in a different outcome than the one urged by Hydro One in dollars and cents terms.  I don't know the answer to that.  Don't care.  In my submission, the real question here is:  Is Hydro One entitled to the benefit of the new methodology?  Well the answer is, this paragraph doesn't deal with that issue.  It defers it.

And having deferred it, you've got all the jurisdiction in the world to deal with that in December of 2009.  And if you’ve got the jurisdiction, you then move to the second question which is, should...

How does, having the jurisdiction, how does the existence of the report of the cost of capital report affect the consideration which the Board should have taken into account in December of 2009?  Let me just say this.  There is no indication it did.  I think there is every indication the Board didn't take it into account.

In my submission, it is obvious they should have taken it into account, of course, because on its face the report says that it is applicable to 2010 cost of capital decisions.

It's obvious that the Board is of the view that it is applicable to all 2010 cost of capital rate-setting, regardless of when the application was commenced.  As you know, there's been a large number of 2010 cost of capital rate hearings where the new report has been applied, even though there was no mention -- even though those applications were commenced before the cost of capital report was released, before the evidence in those cases was filed, but it was released before the decision was made, and it has been applied, to my knowledge, uniformly, without exception, in every one of the 2010 cost of capital decisions that have been rendered to date.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stephenson, is there any meaning in the fact -- look at the original application filed by the applicant.  It did not suggest, as a number of other cases have, that the question of cost of capital was being considered by the Board, was under consultation, and so on.

As I see the application, it seems to refer explicitly and exclusively to the 2006 report of the Board.  It does not contemplate any change in the cost of capital parameter and did not apply for that.

Some of the other cases - I can think of the distribution case - there was an explicit reservation of the position that, in the event that the cost of capital consultation might result in changes to the approach that the Board might take to cost of capital, that was explicitly reserved in that application.

In this application, as I read it, the only indication was that the applicant would rely upon the 2006 report.  Does that have meaning?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I suspect on the facts you are correct, in the sense that I suspect that at the time the application was filed there was no -- the new cost of capital report was not in anyone's anticipation.  I suspect you are right about that.  I haven't checked, but that would make sense to me.

I don't think it matters.  I don't think it matters a bit.  The bottom line is the question is:  Is it a relevant consideration in setting just and reasonable rates in December of 2009?  That is the question.

And, you are correct, if Hydro One wasn't asking for the benefit of the 2009 cost of capital report, then maybe, you know, I mean, that is a relevant consideration, too, if they're not asking for it, but they are asking for it.  They weren't asking for it back in 2007, but they were asking for it in 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am not trying to be difficult, but I am just looking at the record in this case, Mr. Stephenson.  Does that raise a question with respect to notice of the original transmission application?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, we have been around this mulberry bush before, and this was the very issue that my friend, Mr. Warren, so ably raised in the distribution case --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not quite, because the distribution case specifically reserved the application of the revised cost of capital methodology.  Your application did not do that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You will recollect in the Board's decision the Board did not rely on that fact as the basis for its decision at all.  That was not the basis of the Board's decision, and we can all go back and read it, but the Board specifically said, Things change.

And notices are general, and we do the best we can.  But things change.  It was not -- the Board did not rely, in any respect, in its decision in the distribution case, upon the precise structuring of what was left reserved.

And I think -- and it would be worth -- I suppose to the extent it matters, there are a half a dozen other distribution cases.  It would be interesting to go back and look at the precise words of what the applicant asked for in the case, but people amend their application all the time.  And whether this is some kind of a constructive amendment of their application, but it is -- there's no doubt that Hydro One was asking for the benefit of the new cost of capital report in 2009.

Is there a notice question?  In my submission, there is a natural justice issue in this case.  There's two of them.  Number one, I say Hydro One was denied a -- was denied natural justice, in the sense of the Board failed to consider something which was clearly material and relevant; that is, the 2009 cost of capital report.

There is a second natural justice point, in my submission, which flows out of this case, and that is this -- and Hydro One may disagree with me about this, but if you decide that it is appropriate for the Board to consider the 2009 cost of capital report, it is clear that the 2009 cost of capital report is not self-executing in the context of a rate hearing.

The report itself says so, and the Board has said so otherwise.  What do I mean by "self-executing"?  It is not binding.  It is always available -- what the Board said in the distribution case is that the applicant doesn't need anything more, in order to take the benefit of the cost of capital report, other than ask for it.  It doesn't need to lead evidence about what why it is appropriate.  That is what the Board said in the distribution case when this issue came up.

However, of course, any party that takes the position that the 2009 cost of capital report is not applicable, should not be applied in whole or in part, always has the ability to (a) adduce evidence in support of that proposition, and (b) make submissions in support of that proposition.  And it seems to me that that right should exist here.

So it seems to me, if you decide that Hydro One is right that the 2009 cost of capital report should be taken into account in determining 2010 rates, I think you need to consider whether or not intervenors should be given the opportunity to make submissions about why it shouldn't be in whole or in part.  And that issue has never been considered by the Board, because the Board never considered the applicability of the 2009 cost of capital report, the very error which is alleged.

So at the end of the day, that's what this case is about, at least from my submission.  The question is:  Did the Board, by its original decision, exclude any further consideration of this cost of capital issue for the purposes of setting 2010 rates?  And for the reasons I have said, the decision doesn't say that.

The Board absolutely reserved to itself the changing of 2010 rates on the basis of cost of capital, because, in fact, that is what it did do.  And the decision does not exclude the application of a new methodology.  It doesn't say so.

To the extent it excludes anything, to the extent it definitively decides anything, the point that Mr. Sommerville raised, it arguably ties people to the December 2009 data, but that is it.  And, in my submission, since the Board had the jurisdiction to do so, it clearly was a relevant consideration which was not taken into account.  It was material.

That meets the threshold.  And, moreover, that is the basis to vary.  Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Is there an order for intervenors?  Mr. Warren?
Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Nobody else is leaping over my shoulders.

Mr. Sommerville and Ms. Chaplin, I will not do that which irritates the court so much, which is to simply reiterate my factum.

I want to begin, however, by responding to the points Mr. Stephenson had, which have the benefit of clarity and simplicity, in that they are all wrong.

I want to begin, Mr. Chairman and Ms. Chaplin, with an observation that you made, Mr. Sommerville, at the beginning in introducing the case, in which you said that this was an appeal from a decision made by the Board on December 16th.

With respect, sir, this is an appeal from a decision which the Board made in May of 2009.

Mr. Stephenson says that the question of whether or not the Panel had to consider a material issue, in my respectful submission, the Panel did not have to consider the 2009 cost of capital report in December, because it had already made the decision in May of 2008.

Now, in this respect, Mr. Stephenson relies on the wording of -- that he finds on page 52 of the original decision and I will return to that in a moment.  But in my respectful submission you cannot and should not read that passage in isolation.

On page 48 of that decision, the Board says, and I quote:
"The Board will keep this part of the proceeding open..."
and it is referring to the four capital projects,
"...and will provide Hydro One with the opportunity to provide additional evidence on these projects for purposes of setting 2010 rates."

What the Board is clearly saying is that the decision in May, May 28th of 2009, was final and binding, save and except for the four projects.

And the wording on page 52 that my friend Mr. Stephenson relies on does not change that fact, legally or otherwise.

All that the wording on page 52 says is that -- and this is a position that Hydro One as you pointed out Mr. Sommerville concurred with -- said:  Give us the new data to fit into the formula in 2006 which Hydro One agreed should be the formula.  The methodology it said should apply was the 2006 methodology.  It never challenged that.  All that had to be done was to fit in the September 2009 numbers.

Given that, when we arrive at December and the new information -- sorry.  There is an intervening step.  There is an intervening step, and that is that at the Board's invitation, in September of 2009, Hydro One Networks supplied evidence on two of the four projects.

Now, the significance of that is that Hydro One understood perfectly well, in September of 2009, that the case was closed, the decision done, except for those projects.

At no time, as you pointed out, Mr. Sommerville, did they say:  Oh, there's another issue looming and that is the effect of whatever the cost of capital report, cost of capital analysis process is doing.  It didn't do it in May.  It didn't do it in its original application.  It didn't do it in September.  It didn't even do it initially in December.

Hydro One understood -- notwithstanding my friend Mr. Stephenson's efforts to blow some air into the corpse -- it understood that the decision was made in May of 2009 and never challenged that decision with respect to the cost of capital.

My friend Mr. Stephenson then says that the Board has the jurisdiction to consider this issue.

With respect, I say that is wrong.  Because the issue was decided.  If the Board were to consider the issue now, it would have to, as required by the Ontario Energy Board Act, convene a hearing on that issue.  But it is functus, as my friend, Mr. Stephenson said, conceded it may well be.  As I say the only issue that was left open, the only issue that was left open was the question of the data.

Now, in my respectful submission, this is -- there is another point to consider, which is that if this were a live issue, if it were a new circumstance, as Mr. Rogers has argued in his factum and as Mr. Stephenson has argued in his factum, as I recollect, if this were a new circumstance it would only be a new circumstance if the cost of capital report itself left the door open.

But the cost of capital report did not leave the door open.  It said, and I quote from page 61:
"The onus is on an applicant to adequately support its proposed cost of capital including the treatment of an appropriate rates for debt instruments.  The Board notes that this is being done in cost of service applications.”

  It says on page 61, again:
"The policy set out in chapter 4 of this report will come into effect for the setting of rates beginning in 2010 by way of a cost of service application."


Both Mr. Rogers and Mr. Stephenson simply glide over those statements.  You can't glide over them.  The cost of capital report made it clear that it was to apply for 2010 rates when there was a cost of service application.

Given that significant limitation, that cost of capital report cannot, under any circumstances, apply to a 2010 – sorry, to rate set in 2009 for 2010 by a different mechanism.

In my respectful submission, the report is not a new circumstance.  The decision was made.

Now, that raises the interesting question of what, in fact, these folks are appealing.  I say they're appealing a decision that was made in May of 2008, but in addition to which, by necessary implication, they are appealing the cost of capital report because they're saying that that section, which says cost of service applications doesn't apply to them.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Warren, wasn't 2010 a cost of service year for Hydro One Transmission?

MR. WARREN:  The decision was made back in May of 2008.  There is not a fresh application made.  That's my point.

My point is that cost of capital report contemplated a fresh application, and not one that had been made six months before.

What they're doing is they are, in effect, challenging the application of that term, a point which is not made in the factums of either of my friends, but it applies.

Now, the last point I wanted to make, again, not to tax the Board with repeating everything which is in my factum, is this.  The cost of capital report was quite careful and precise in limiting the application of the new formula to certain circumstances in 2010 cost of service applications going forward.

There is no question, in my respectful submission, that if the Board were to grant the relief which is sought by Hydro One, it would open the floodgates.  Its precedent value would be significant.  Because all of the cases that were decided last year or the year before would now be open on the same cluster of arguments that had been raised by Mr. Rogers and by Mr. Stephenson and for -- simply for policy reasons, in my respectful submission, that is a compelling argument why the Board should dismiss the request.

There are all kinds of other reasons set out in my factums and the factums of my friends on this side of the table.  But that is a material consideration.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, sort of on the same point, Mr. Warren.  You are saying that those who are under an IRM would seek to apply the same, and would there not be a distinction between Hydro One Transmission which is the second year of a two-year cost of service application versus IRM?

MR. WARREN:  There is no question that that restriction would be argued strenuously on our side of the table.  But if -- the essence of the argument which is raised by my friends -- my friends don't even make that argument that it is a cost of service application.  That doesn't come from them.

What they're saying is that the, if you look at Mr. Rogers' factum, he says that the principle that applies is that utilities, in any year, are entitled to a return on equity which reflects the market.

He says that this reflects the market and should, therefore, apply.  He doesn't make the point about cost of capital.

So that is the danger.  That's the time bomb ticking within his request for relief.  He doesn't rely on that distinction.  I agree, Ms. Chaplin, that it is an important critical one in light of the wording of the cost of capital report but that is not the argument that Mr. Rogers advances.

My final point is that I agree with my friend, Mr. Stephenson, when he says that if the Board were to grant this relief, that you simply can't apply with respect -- with respect you can't apply the new formula.  It has to give an opportunity to affected parties as to whether they want to lead evidence or make submissions on whether or not the new formula should apply.

So this can't be the end of the process one way or another.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.   As I say, the balance of my argument is set out in the factum.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you very much.  Like Mr. Warren, I will try not to repeat what is in our written factum.  It might be helpful though, if you had it in front of you because there are a couple of quotes in it that I will be drawing to your attention.

It's a six-page document submitted on behalf of the CME on February 10th.  I hope the panel has that.  Thanks.

The points that I urge you to consider in connection with this matter are, first, that Hydro One is seeking, in my submission, to vary what I characterize as an implementation directive in the December 16, 2009 decision.

You will find that quoted in paragraph 12 of CME's factum on page 3, and the directive was as follows:
"In accordance with its May 28, 2009 Decision, the Board issued a letter to Hydro One on November 5, 2009 setting out the Board's determination of Hydro One's return on equity and cost of short-term debt for 2010.  The return on equity was set at 8.39% and the short-term debt rate was set at 0.55%.  These values shall be used in the derivation of Hydro One's revenue requirement."


Now, that directive was made in the context of the issuance of the cost of capital report some five days previously.

The directive, as others have noted, stems from the May 26th, 2009 decision, and the quote from that decision, to which Mr. Sommerville referred when discussing the matter with Mr. Stephenson, is in paragraph 4 of our factum, where we note that it was Hydro One that proposed, and that the Board agreed that its 2010 rates should be based on an application of the then prevailing Board policy.

So Hydro One is the one that proposed a two-year test period, and it was the one that proposed how the cost of capital components for the second year should be set and it proposed that the then existing cost of capital policy be applied.

And in its decision, the Board said, and I quote:
"For 2010, the Board agrees with Hydro One that September 2009 data should be used to update the cost of capital parameters. The 2010 year is a separate test year in Hydro One's application; it is not part of an IRM period. It is therefore appropriate to update the cost of short-term debt and return on equity.  The Board will issue a letter to Hydro One setting out Hydro One's 2010 cost of capital parameters in due course.  The Board expects that this will be treated as a mechanistic update."


The mechanistic update, in my submission, is the calculation that the Board would be doing of those values in 2009.

So I agree with Mr. Warren that all that was left open with respect to cost of capital in the 2009 decision for the year 2010 was simply a determination of these values.

The Board issued its letter on November 5, as Mr. Warren has noted, and then the directive in the decision that Hydro One challenges is exactly in accordance with the parameters of what was stated in May of 2009, and again in November of 2009.

So our submission is that all matters pertaining to cost of capital were determined as of May 28th, except for the determination of these values, and they were determined for Hydro One on the basis of a two-year test period.

So that in the terms of the timing of the applicability of the cost of capital report, we submit that Hydro One is the same position as others that are operating under the auspices of rate-setting that has been fixed for more than one year.  So they're in the same position, in our submission, as people operating under the auspices of unexpired IRM rate-setting.

At the heart of this motion, we submit, is Hydro One's assertion that the implementation directive in this December 16 decision is inconsistent with the cost of capital report.

You will see that in the motion.  It is probably in their factum, as well, but in the notice of motion.  I will just draw you to what we say are the paragraphs of that that you should take a look at.

If you go to the notice of motion at paragraph -- well, it starts at pages 2 and 3, but I am interested at page 3 and paragraphs (f) and (g).  We submit this is at the heart of Hydro One's motion.  (f) says:
"The Board's decision of December 16, 2009 and the Report of December 11, 2009 are inconsistent in that the former directs that HON use an ROE of 8.39% to calculate its revenue requirement for 2010..."


And the latter suggests a different number.

Same allegation in (g) with respect to debt, but again it is for 2010.

So the question is, in my respectful submission, for determination here in terms of the alleged inconsistency is whether the transition provisions of the cost of capital report operate to give Hydro One the benefit, the opportunity to claim the benefit of the cost of capital report for 2010.

We submit in our factum, and adopt what others have to say, that you cannot reasonably interpret the cost of capital report to provide a utility like Hydro One that is operating under the unexpired portion of a two-year rate making regime the opportunity to claim the benefit of the report before its next cost of service application.

So the next cost of service application for Hydro One is 2011.  So that is when its opportunity to claim the benefits of the report arises, and that is where others will have the opportunity to challenge whether it is entitled to all of those benefits or maybe only some of those benefits, and to lead their own evidence.

So we say that is the only reasonable way to interpret the cost of capital report, and, if it is interpreted in that fashion, then there is nothing inconsistent with the directive in the December 16 Hydro One is challenging, and the report.

Now, in our submission, we say not only is that conclusion evident from the report itself, but when you look at the other surrounding circumstances, we submit that conclusion is reinforced.

You will see that in -- I think it is paragraph 17 of our submission.  I just wanted to take you to that quickly before I close, because in paragraph 17 we recite the sequence of events that were taking place in the context of the adjudication of Hydro One's two-year cost of service application dealing with the -- sorry, in the context of the processes going on with cost of capital consultative.

So the cost of capital consultative was initiated in March, some two months before the May decision.  The specific determination in the May decision is as I have described it.  The issuance of the November 5 letter determining values to be used in 2010 took place while the consultative was pending.

The report issued before the December 16 decision.  Its contents, as I say, have transition provisions that exclude Hydro One from claiming the benefit of that report until 2011.

Then you have the December 16 decision mandating the values to be used are those specified in the 2010 -- those specified in the letter.

But more importantly, what they didn't have in that paragraph and I wanted to close by referring you to, is the December 22 letter.  Hydro One, in response to the decision that it shall determine these values, in accordance with the Board's November 5 letter, sent in an order that ignored that directive.  Basically in defiance of the directive, and that was on December 21st.  We recite that in paragraph 13.

But in paragraph 14, the Board, by letter, responded to this by reiterating the values it determined in its November 5, 2009 letter.

What the Board said in that letter, in my submission, is informative.  It reiterates that the Board's letter set out the Board's determination of Hydro One's Transmission’s return on equity and short-term debt for 2010.  This approach was confirmed in the Board's decision of December 16, 2009.

Hydro One has provided a draft uniform transmission rate order and supporting materials that are based on cost of capital parameters which do not apply in this case.

In my respectful submission, when you look at all of those facts in conjunction with the transition provisions of the report, the only reasonable interpretation to draw is that Hydro One cannot claim the benefit, Hydro One Transmission cannot claim the benefit of this report until 2011.

So, in those circumstances, there is, in my submission, no reason to doubt the correctness of the Directive that Hydro One is attacking and that the motion is without merit.

Those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

MR. CROCKER:  I think I can go next.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Sommerville, I will be very brief.


Submissions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  AMPCO adopts the submissions made to you by Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson.  Almost all of those submissions, all of the submissions made by Mr. Warren are covered in our factum.

Most of the ones by Mr. Thompson are as well.

Just two points I would like to underline.

In response to Mr. Stephenson, he indicated that the error which he is suggesting that the panel made was failing to address a material issue and he characterized that as failing to address the December 16th cost of capital decision.

With respect, that is not something that the applicant suggested, I don't believe.

I don't think Mr. Stephenson has been fair to you in characterizing what the obligation, I submit to you, of the Board was.  It wasn't, in my submission, to consider the cost of capital decision of December 16th. It was to consider cost of capital.

And it is quite clear, throughout, and has been underlined by Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson, the Board clearly dealt with cost of capital.  There was no omission to deal with the material issue.

The second point I would like to make stems from or is an elaboration of the comments that we made in our submission with respect to customer impact.  No one I submit, with respect, is suggesting that if Hydro One were to be given the opportunity to apply the December 16th cost of capital decision, there would be a material impact resulting.

This is, in my respectful submission, the way we characterize the natural justice issue.  A significant impact like that on Hydro One Transmission customers -- and many of AMPCO members are Hydro One customers -- is significant.  And it should not -- that kind of impact should not result from a motion like this.  It should result from an application, a new rate application, as has been suggested to you already where a full intervention is made by all of the intervenors and in particular AMPCO.

And I think that is what was the anticipation of the Board and as Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren have indicated to you, is contained in the December 16th decision.

Those are our submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Buonaguro.

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I should have poured my water before I started, sorry.

I am going to try not to repeat those who have gone before me, to summarize the parts that have been addressed that I agree with.

With respect to the question of how I put it, which decision is actually being reviewed here.  I agree that it is the May 28th decision of 2009.

As we have said in our factum for various reasons, it is a mistake to consider the December 16th decision or even the November 5th directive from the Board as decisions with respect to the methodology need to be used by Hydro One Networks in its 2010 transmission rate filing.  That decision was clearly made in the May 28th decision.

The suggestion that cost of capital methodology was open somehow as a result of wording in the May 28th decision, we agree with, is wrong.  Clearly, the May 28th decision was open with respect to a very narrow issue based on the Board's perception that there was lacking evidence from Hydro One on very specific projects, and the fact that Hydro One was given an opportunity to buttress their evidence on those projects should not be taken to mean that all issues were open until that determination was made on those issues in December 16th of 2009.

I raised a couple of very specific points I don't think were raised by many, if any, of the other intervenors so I am going to focus on those.  I have actually prepared a brief of materials which has been designated Exhibit 1.

These are simply the cite references from my factum for the most part, just in case I want to refer to them in my oral submissions I would be able to point you to the actual text, with one exception.  The last two pages are excerpts from the transcript in EB-2009-0096, transcript volume number 3, which I may refer to on a point.

The two things that I reacted specifically to in Hydro One's factum are found at paragraphs 24 and 25 of their factum.  And also later on at paragraph 29.

Starting with paragraphs 24 and 25.  Hydro One states:
"While it is difficult to anticipate all arguments that may be made by intervenors, Hydro One anticipates that some may suggest there is no evidence on the record to support the request to apply the new ROE formula and update short-term debt rates."


At paragraph 25, they state:
"Hydro One disagrees.  As in all of its cost of service applications, both transmission and distribution, Hydro One produces thousands of pages of prefiled evidence, answers hundreds of written interrogatories and presents further evidence during the oral phase of any hearing.  This hearing was no different."


Taking those two paragraphs together, I think the implication that the Board was supposed to draw is that you didn't have to worry about there being a lack of evidence on ROE methodology when considering this request in this motion, because it is all there.

So I actually went to the evidence to see what was there on ROE.  You will see from my factum, from even before the application was filed, throughout the hearing and then in final submissions, the methodology for ROE was actually not an issue.  As I have set out, the submissions on the procedural orders, the procedural order itself with respect to the issues list basically says the company's accepted the 2006 cost of capital methodology.  It is not an issue in this hearing and in fact was not made an issue in this hearing, there is no separate issue on ROE.

Even more interesting, and I have put this in the package of materials at pages 10 and 11 of my package of materials at Exhibit 1, these are extracts from the -- from the evidence from the consultations that the company had prior to the application and were put into evidence by the applicant.

They're cites number 11 and 12 from my factum.  I don't have the references, but if you look at the cites in my factum, you will can see the actual evidence.

The first one talks about, at page 10 of my exhibit book, with respect to the issue of the appropriate ROE, the comments are:
"As Hydro One will be following the Board's formula, this should not be an issue."


Even more interesting is at page 11 of my exhibit, comments by Susan Frank, vice president regulatory affairs and chief regulatory officer, Hydro One.  I will just read it into the record:
"Following the morning break, Susan Frank provided some comments precipitated by a discussion with stakeholders during the break.  She indicated that there were two cost components that Hydro One had chosen not to pursue in this application.  They were..."

Bullet number 1:
"Recovery of spending on capital assets that would not come into service in 2009 or 2010."

And bullet number 2:
"A more appropriate level of return on equity.  Susan indicated the absence of these two items in this transmission rate application should not be taken as acceptance of the status quo, but, rather, the recognition by Hydro One that it would be inappropriate to pursue these adjustments in a year in which rate impacts were significant."


So the evidence before the Board on ROE in the application for 2010 rates was that the company didn't think they were earning a good ROE, but they didn't want an extra ROE, because it would be a distress to its ratepayers because of the rate impacts of their application otherwise.

That is the evidence that was before the Board in this hearing, and presumably would be the evidence that would continue on if the Board were to consider this issue separately.

And then -- so that addresses the first point at paragraphs 24 and 25, in terms of the evidence that was actually in the ROE issue was sparse, and it was sparse because of the position Hydro One was taking.  And their position was that the ROE that the 2006 cost of capital report produces is inadequate, but we don't want anything more because of the nature of our application as a whole.

And that theme is followed through and ties into the second point that I took issue with at paragraph 29 of their factum, where Hydro One states:

"However, the impact of a toll increase is an irrelevant consideration in the determination of the cost of capital."

Which I took that to mean that, well, in this case Hydro One has set out that the impact of the increase in ROE is about $64 million, and they're saying that they acknowledge that that might be a very -- that's an extreme rate impact, but that is not a consideration in this case.

However, first of all, from the quote from Ms. Frank from the consultation points out, that was a consideration by Hydro One in addressing the ROE methodology issue in the hearing.  And, furthermore -- and this is a transcript reference from Hydro One's submissions on the 2009-2010 rate case.  This is at pages 22 -- sorry, it is pages 15 and 16 of my package of materials, Exhibit 1.

This is from the oral transcript of EB-2008-0272.  I believe it is volume 7, pages 22 and 23, starting at line 16:
"Now, in conclusion, can I just deal a moment with the mitigation effort my client has taken?"


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, this is argument?

MR. BUONAGURO:  By Mr. Rogers.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  "I said earlier that a utility has a
duty to mitigate against undue rate shock.  This usually arises in the context of a rate change resulting from a shift in cost allocation and rate design. That is not the case here, the AMPCO proposal aside.  We're not sure about the implications of that.  The application, as filed, results in a transmission rate increase of 6.4 percent in 2009 and 12.1 percent in 2010  This translates into a total bill increase of 0.5 percent in 2009 and 0.9 percent in 2010, less than 1 percent in each year.  I do not trivialize these proposed rate increases, but they cannot be considered as rate shock, particularly in the context of the total utility bill. Nevertheless, they are significant."


The part that I am most interested in, and I am trying to read the whole thing for context:
"Now, of course updates to the Board's cost of capital parameters are likely to reduce that impact.  As shown in Exhibit J3.1, updating the evidence for the latest ROE and debt forecasts issued by the Ontario Energy Board, show that the applied-for revenue requirement would be reduced by $22.9 million in 2009, and $58.8 million in 2010.  It will be larger still if you do not update for third party long-term debt, as the applicant suggests.  So your own processes, your own formulae, may provide substantial mitigation."


My point here is this.  In making submissions to the Board on the appropriateness of its total revenue requirement request, the company ties the operation of the 2009 cost of capital, based on updated data forecasts, to show that there is going to be a reduction of $15.8 million in the request overall and that that should give you comfort in terms of the appropriateness of the overall rate increase.

Now, as we have seen in their factum, they're now asking to put back in $64 million based on the new methodology.  And I haven't done the exact math, but that basically, I would suggest, wipes out the $58 million in savings that they were relying on in making their submissions to you in the 2010 part of the application.

Now, the last thing I would like to address, and this is -- I guess it would be characterized as a response to Mr. Stephenson's suggestion.  What I am getting from him or from my friend's submissions is an invitation for the Board to hold what I would call a mini hearing on ROE where the intervenors would be afforded the opportunity to provide evidence and ask interrogatories, and so on and so forth, on ROE, as a distinct issue, and that the determination of that issue in that mini hearing would be tacked on to the results of the May 28th, 2009 decision in terms of a 2010 overall rate order.

And I see that as a huge problem for a couple of reasons.

First of all, the Panel raised the issue about the difference between the IRM filers for 2010 and cost of service filers for 2010 and suggested -- well, I think it was Ms. Chaplin who asked, Well, isn't Hydro One a 2010 cost of service filer, technically, because their 2010 rates were filed on the basis of a 2010 cost of service application back in 2008?

Technically, that is true, but if you look at -- if you think about why it is that an IRM filer can't apply for the new cost of capital without going into cost of service, versus why someone who is actually applying for cost of service rates in 2009 for 2010, I think you can see that it is not as simple as tacking on the impact of a new methodology on to existing rates.

I mean, in this case, what Mr. Stephenson is suggesting and I presume -- I don't know for sure whether the company agrees, but they may agree.  What he's inviting you to do is figure out whether or not the cost of capital methodology, all things being equal, would apply to Hydro One transmission for 2010, and, if you agree that it would be applicable, all things being equal, tack it on.  If they got the full impact, tack $64 million on to their rates for 2010.

What you would be tacking that number on to would be rates that were determined based on evidence from a year-and-a-half ago - I think the application was originally filed in September of 2008 - similar to what would happen in IRM filers.

If you were to tack it on in the same way for the IRM filers, you would be tacking on based on the evidence of their base rates, which were over a year still, probably a year and a half, depending on when they filed for their rates.

This is a problem for several reasons, and I am going to give you an example from Hydro One Distribution's 2009 distribution case, and that is the -- back to my Exhibit 1.  And this was not part of my factum, so it is newer.

Like I said before, it is from EB-2009-0096, transcript volume number 3, pages 84 and 85.

This is Mr. Van Dusen, on behalf of the company, talking about their prioritization process and how they come up with their work plans.  Starting at line 18 at page 84, Mr. Van Dusen:
"In this question, there were questions about the risk-based prioritization process, and there were questions about the minimum level of capital spending and the minimum level of OM&A spending for distribution in the test years.  As we have talked about in previous proceedings, what this talks about is the amount of dollars which are filed which Hydro One deems is the appropriate level required to ensure the safety and reliability of the system, and then there were questions about the minimum level and what the minimum represents and how it helps guide our decision making.
"If we developed this table at the beginning of the process, there would have been another column on the left handed side which would have said..."


However, it says:

"...represents something which, in our nomenclature, we call the asset needs, which is the beginning of the process, which is:  What do we initially -- if we had no constraints and we had nothing which was barring us, what would be the highest amount of work or what would be the appropriate level of work that we would have recommended to come forward?
"Through the process, business planning process, we apply appropriate constraints, and one of those appropriate constraints is customer impact and rate increases."


I read this to you for a simple reason, which is to suggest to you that the impact of ROE as one of the cost components in a rate filing isn't an isolated thing.  It contributes to the overall rate impact that the company is seeking.


I think this cite from the Hydro One Distribution case points out, when they go out -- when the company goes and makes its work plans for the year.  They start from the idea of:  What can we do in a particular year without any constraints?  But then the board of directors actually applies constraints to their spending and one of those constraints, I would suggest to you, would be the impact of all of the other things they're asking for in the rate year and in this case that would include the $64 million increase in cost of capital.

If the company were to go through its planning process based on the new methodology, I would suggest to you there would be an impact on the amount of work plans that they may have, based on the overall rate increase it would produce.

That is one example, and a very good one, I think, of why it is that you can't deal with the impact of a change in ROE methodology in isolation because of its affect over the overall cost of service application.

I think that would explain why it is that the IRM filers don't have some sort of module that adjusts for the new cost of capital methodology, because they actually have to produce evidence on their overall rates in order to produce just and reasonable rates that are current to when they were asking for the methodology.

Like I said, in this case, the evidence underpinning the 2010 rates is at least a year and a half old.  And there is no consideration of the impact of this new methodology in terms of how their other plans of spending are appropriate or not.

There is another example and this is in the May 28th, 2009 decision of EB-2008-0272, page 9 of that decision, there is a discussion of the export revenues for 2008 and the -- in that particular issue, it turned out that the 2008 forecast export revenues were 13 -- were $13 million less than what was actually gained in 2008.

So there was a $13 million surplus gained for the company on export revenues because their forecast was much lower than their actual.

We're a year and a half away from the evidence underpinning the 2010 rates.  There is a good -- there's a very good chance that a lot of their forecasts are off to one degree or another, and there may be similar issues of over-earning on under earning on particular items, overspending/overspending.  You don't know what those are because there is no evidence.  And you would have to take a look at that evidence at the same time that you are looking at the increased methodology for ROE to determine what a fair, just and reasonable rates overall would be for 2010.

If were you to take updated methodology that was implemented in 2009 and apply it to two years, to evidence that is almost two years removed, you are -- no longer can be certain that you have just and reasonable rates based on a unified picture of what the company is doing, unified contemporary picture.
Subject to any questions, those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will largely adopt the submissions of my estimable colleagues who have covered the ground quite well except for Mr. Stephenson who while estimable is incorrect in this case.

Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson and Mr. Crocker have all dealt fully with the question of what decision is being appealed here and how to characterize the various actions of the Board along the way.

Mr. Buonaguro has quite correctly pointed out that Hydro One came to the Board and asked for something specific saying we want to be nice to our ratepayers and so this is what we want.  The Board said, Okay, you can have it.  And now Hydro One's coming back and saying, No, no, no, no we changed our mind.  Now we don't want what you just gave us.

And that, it seems to us, is not appropriate.

So we don't need to go into those things, I don't think.  We have two brief points.

The first relates to the distinction between cost of service and IRM which has been raised a couple of times.  The cost of capital report says that this issue of applying the new formula should be in the next cost of service application of the particular utility.

Why did the Board do that?  In our submission, the Board did that because the Board cannot set rates in a policy document.  The Board's recognized this a number of times, that there are a set of rules regarding how you set rates that require a certain type of hearing be held with certain types of notice, et cetera, and the Board can't follow those in a policy document.

So the Board has made it a practice, a very careful practice, in reports like the cost of capital report of saying, this report is not setting rates.  This report is setting a policy.  The rates will be set when a Board panel considers the evidence for a particular utility.  That is how we do things here.

And the reason is that it has to do that legally.

So the Board said in this case, this is not going to -- this report is not going to set anybody's rates.  The next time a utility comes to us with a cost of service application, that Board panel will then consider what the appropriate ROE should be, and other aspects of cost of capital, in the context of the evidence before them.

The reason, in our submission, why the Board said a cost of service application is because in an IRM application the Board is typically not engaged in a review of evidence in the normal sense.  An IRM application is a mechanistic process in which there isn't a judgment about what makes sense for this utility in the broader sense.

There is, rather, a narrower judgment:  Does this utility fit within the parameters of this particular IRM approach?

So in our submission, the distinction here should be between whether there is a live cost of service application before the Board in which the Board can consider cost of capital in context?  As my friend pointed out, there are a lot of other things that would be part of that context, including things like the claim of mitigation effects by not asking for this in the first place.  So that is our first point.

The second point is, it appears to us that Hydro One is selectively opening up -- or seeking to open up their 2010 application.  Saying, well, there's a new policy on cost of capital.  We want that to apply to us.

Well, there are other things that have happened between last May 28th and today.  Last night, the Ontario government issued a budget in which they froze the salaries of the people at Hydro One.

Well, that will probably have an impact on their cost of service for this year.  Do I hear Mr. Rogers saying, Well, yeah, we would like to open it up for that too?  That's a change.

This Board has, in the past, had a sense of finality about their decisions in which they say, Okay we have considered the evidence.  This is what we have decided.  And the Board is generally loathe to open it up again to a continuing sort of bickering back and forth about what the current situation is.

In this case it seems to us this Board should simply say:  We already decided this.  We are not going to open it up again unless we open up the whole year in which case file a new cost of service application, then we will talk.

Those are our submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rogers, we are close to normal break time but if you want to proceed, we are happy to sit.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Sommerville.  I would be grateful for the break now, I think I could organize my thoughts and make this a more cogent presentation.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's take 15 minutes.

MR. ROGERS:  I expect to be less than half an hour.

--- Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Rogers.
Submissions by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, Mr. Sommerville.  I apologize for my voice, but I will try to keep it up and speak slowly for the reporter.

Having heard the submissions of the intervenors, there are a few preliminary points I would like to make in response.

I would like to get to basic fundamentals here in this discussion, because the submissions that my friends make are largely technical, the objections that they raise, I would submit.

This request to renew is based upon a very simple, clear proposition.  In setting transmission rates for 2010, the Board should use its most accurate assessment of the cost of capital.  As it so happens in this case, we have a very fresh determination of what the true cost of capital is for 2010.

That of course is found in the Board's report of December 11th, 2009.

Now, the parties have talked about the Board making an error and mistakes being made, or having to correct errors.  I submit what happened here is perhaps more simple than that.  I can't speak for the Board, but I don't believe that anyone can fairly say anybody is to blame for the situation we're in, but we are in a very unique and interesting situation, and we are asking the Board to come up with a practical solution here.

I am mindful of the fact that in a very busy administrative tribunal like this, documents take time to vet, reread, reread again, execute, get approval and issue.  So that, in effect, your report on the cost of capital and your final decision in this case are virtually simultaneous.  They're five days apart.

And that may or may not help to explain the position we are in.  I don't know.  But, in any event, we are asking you to review the decision to take into account the cost of capital report.

Now, I want to address one issue that has been raised by intervenors, and, Mr. Sommerville, you raised this, as well.

My client did apply to use the formula, the 2006 formula; that is correct.  It did so, and I went back and actually looked at the application, and what the application said is this.  I will just read it to you.  I have it here somewhere, but I can read it to you.

This is the summary of application which I think was -- well, the summary of application.  It said:
"In accordance with the decision in EB-2006-0501..."

That was the preceding case:
"...Hydro One Transmission's submission is based on the capital structure, debt rates and return on equity formulas prescribed in the report of the Board on cost of capital and 2nd generation incentive regulation."


So it is true my client applied to you to use the 2006 formula of the Board.  It did so following the previous case where it attempted to deviate from your formula.  It called evidence to support a higher return than the formula called for, and the Board rejected its approach and said the formula should apply to the transmission utility, as well as the distribution utility.

The company accepted that proposition, that decision, and therefore applied in this case to use your formula.

Now, where I depart from my friends here, in fairness, is that the company applied to use the Board's approved formula in this case, and everybody always understood that.  It did not apply for specific values that would have applied had the calculation been done when the application was filed.

It applied to use your formula in the mechanistic approach that you have been using in these cases, knowing that it would be updated in accordance with your practice before final rates were ordered.

That is what it applied for.  That is what it expected and that is what everybody expected.

Mr. Buonaguro pointed out to you that in the argument phase of the case, the updating of your formula actually resulted in a reduction in the return on equity, because of the updated parameters that were used in your formula, and my client accepted that.

Now your formula, as refreshed, happens to go the other way in this instance, and my client asks that the formula be accepted here, too, and applied in this case.

Ms. Chaplin, you raised the issue about my client not being in an IRM, but, rather, being in a cost of service regime.  And others have tried to characterize Hydro One as being in the second year of a quasi IRM scheme because of its use of a two-year test period.

I refer you to page 52 of your report of May 28th, 2009 where the Board is very clear about this.  You say, under "Board Findings", quote:
"The 2010 year is a separate test year in Hydro One's application; it is not part of an IRM period.  It is therefore appropriate to update the cost of short-term debt and return on equity.  The Board will issue a letter to Hydro One setting out Hydro One's 2010 cost of capital parameters in due course.  The Board expects that this will be treated as a mechanistic update."


That is really all we are asking you now.  We are asking you to review your decision to make the update in accordance with your refreshed formula, which is the only Board formula that now applies, we submit.

I am not going to go into the report in great detail.  I was not there during the process.  I have read the report and I understand it was a very elaborate, detailed process.  All of the intervenors were there and participated in it.  I believe all of the people here today and their clients were there and participated in that assessment.

And it resulted in a decision that you made on December the 16th, I believe -- I get them mixed up -- 11th.  11th.

In that report, you made a finding about what the real cost of capital is for utilities in 2010.

Now, the intervenors are saying to you, Well, we don't want you to put the real costs in 2010.  Put some imaginary costs in 2010, because Hydro One applied for the 2006 formula.  So don't use the real costs that you know to be found in your report after that elaborate process.  Use some costs which you know to be inaccurate.

I submit to you that can't be right.  You can't -- we can't, in this process, incorporate costs which we have just found not to be accurate in this utility's cost of service.

If you accept that this is not a game we are engaged in here, but, rather, an exercise, an ongoing exercise, whereby we are trying to establish rates based on true costs, and then to allow the utility to recover its true costs of service to charge customers what it really costs, then logic dictates, I submit to you with great respect, that the 2010 rates must include your best assessment of the real cost of capital for 2010, and that is the values derived from your refreshed formula.

I also observe, by the way, in view of some comments made this morning, about -- I think Mr. Buonaguro made the point that Hydro One tried to argue that, well, the formula reduced the actual application rate of return and, therefore, it is a good mitigation measure.

I made this point earlier this morning that my client was willing to live -- when it went down it, was ready to live it, and it would ask for the same reciprocal treatment when it is going up.

I would also like to observe this, that in this original application, if you go back and look at it, the formula, when the application was filed using the debt rates and so on that existed at the time, I guess in the forecast of what they would be, yielded a return on equity of 9.35 percent.  That is what my client actually asked for using your formula back then.

But it knew it would be updated and changed, and so it was, of course.  And when you updated it and we put in the new parameters before the -- when the argument was made, it went down to 8.39 percent.  My client was prepared to live with that.

If I am told -- I haven't done the calculation -- if I am told you want to stick with this old formula which, with respect, I think you found is no longer applicable, and you do apply the September updates, it yields a return on equity of 9.73 percent.

The new formula -– sorry, the new formula with September data, forgive me, I got that wrong.  If you use the new formula but with September date you come up with the figure of 9.73, which is marginally less than the 9.75 percent which the refreshed formula yields.



My point is this, that we all have to be concerned with the integrity of the regulatory process.  We have to operate on the basis of principle.

I say this with great respect.  I submit to you that if we intentionally set rates which contain a cost we know to be inaccurate, we raise serious questions about the integrity of the system.

And the other thing I would ask you to consider is this.  The market will know that you have concluded in December that the cost, true cost of capital for this utility is 9.75 percent.

If it then sees the Board set a rate for 2010 which intentionally includes an artificial cost below that, it would have -- it would have cause to consider the integrity of our process here, I submit, with respect.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rogers.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Would all of these same issues arise if there had been no December 16 decision?   In other words, if the proceeding had closed and the issue had not remained open with respect to the capital projects, would the same issue arise?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Yes.  I would submit, Ms. Chaplin, for this reason.

It's been argued of course that the May decision was the final decision in this case and I urge you to reject that proposition, but assuming it had been.

My client would still have the right to ask you to modify your decision under your Rules.  It is argued here that it was the May decision which was the determinative decision.

In fact, the 2010 rates were not, were not ordered until the December decision.  But if the May decision was the decision being appealed from, they say well then you are out of time.  There is only 20 days and you have lost your right to review.

Well, that can't be right.  I mean, you can't -- you can't say that the right to review a decision -- which I say is based on justice -- is extinguished because 20 days went by before the report came out which gives rise to the need to review in the first place.  That can't be a valid proposition.  And I refer you to -- your Rules actually have, give you quite substantial latitude about these time limits.

That is Rule 7.02 in your rules of procedure.   I mean I think under the rules of natural justice you would have it any way, but Rule 7.02 sensibly gives the Board a very wide discretion to extend any time limit under these rules.  As I say it is ludicrous to argue, I submit, that my client's right to ask for a review was extinguished before it knew it would have any cause to ask for a review.

So if you hadn't extended the hearing because of these other projects, which I admit is kind of a fortuitous thing that technically keeps the hearing open, we would still have the right, I submit, to come and ask you to review it and correct an anomalous  situation that has arisen, that requires adjustment and review.

I hope that answers your question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So would the Board find itself in a position that whenever it had a two-year test period, that in fact even if there was a complete decision, that it would remain forever open for any change in circumstances?

MR. ROGERS:  No, no, no, I would not say that.

This is a very unique situation which I can't remember ever happening before, in my long career here.

So it is unlikely to happen again.  And the only -- you know, in the Board's practice in these cases, the only element that you update to account for is cost of capital.  I mean there are all kinds of changes, this was pointed out by Mr. Buonaguro, from the time that the case was started until now, that's true.

There are puts and takes and ups and downs and so on.  The process has been, we will assume those are offsetting unless there is something major.  But the cost of capital under your formula is to be updated to reflect current information.

That is really all we are asking here in this case.

I submit it isn't going to create any big precedent that is going to be a problem in the future.  It has to do with cost of capital.  And I assume you will continue to update cost of capital in accordance with your formula.

All that has changed is that the formula has been refreshed and improved.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just an observation.  I think you suggested that nothing had happened after the May 28th decision and that things were kind of in abeyance, pending the consideration of the capital projects, the four capital projects that were sort of outstanding.  But in fact there was the creation of a draft rate order or of a rate order.

MR. ROGERS:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  On June 30th, 2009.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- that reflected the 2006 Board report methodology.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't that right?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's right.  For 2009, yes, that's right.  But of course we don't know -- I am not even sure then anybody knew there was going to be a review of the cost of capital formula.  But that is correct, yes, of course it is, yes it is May sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the May 28th decision was specifically implemented in a rate order June 30th, 2009.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  For 2009, but left -- but left open 2010 to be set in due course.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well --

MR. ROGERS:  I don't believe there is any rate order for 2010 until December of 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, yes.  What is indicated is that the 2009 parameters will then be applied, right?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  And is it your suggestion that that somehow just -- that that was not a definitive decision by the Board, to use the September 2009 updated parameters?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I am suggesting that.  I am suggesting that based on the formula at the time -- which is what my client applied for, the formula, that was the process.  But subsequently the formula has been refreshed and modified.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  So I think the point I would like to make is that my client applied to use your formula.  And still, it is in the exact same position.  They still asked you to use your formula.  Your formula that should apply to 2010 is the refreshed formula, that was issued in December of 2009.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So is it your position that it's irrelevant that at the time of the original proceeding there was no discussion about the potential for the formula to be revised or refreshed, could have been abandoned completely, could have been changed completely and that in fact there was no discussion of that process at all?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I do say that is irrelevant, because there couldn't be any discussion because no one knew it was going to happen.  If the formula had been abandoned that is a different situation.  I don't know where we would be.  I haven't thought that through.  It was always assumed there would be a formula that would be applied and that the formula would be updated before rates go into effect.

And the purpose of that, I always assumed and my client assumed, I believe, is that the formula was thought to be a good proxy to try and establish the cost of capital but that in doing so you should use the best information available when that was done, closer to the actual rates going into effect.

We're in the same position now, Ms. Chaplin, I submit.  We're asking you to apply your formula, but the most recent one to reflect the most current conditions because we found, we found in your report, you know, that the old formula no longer works very well.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is it further Hydro One's position that if the Board were to update it for the revised formula, that it would be inappropriate to look at any other aspects of the overall cost of service application?  Given that the 2009 report does seem to contemplate that this new formula will be applied in the context of a complete cost of service application.  But what Hydro One seems to be suggesting is, Well, we'll keep everything else as it is, even though the circumstances have changed.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.  My client doesn't want to file a new cost of service application for 2010.  So, yes, they are asking that we assume everything else remains constant.

Now, in your report -- you are in the best position to judge what is meant by those words about the 2010 rate year, a cost of service application for 2010.

I don't presume to tell you how to interpret your own report, but it is my submission that in the report at page 61 under "Implementation", you say:
"The policy set out in Chapter 4 of this report will come into effect for the setting of rates, beginning in 2010, by way of a cost of service application."


Well, my client has a cost of service application before you for rates coming into effect in 2010.  I ask you to interpret that provision to cover my client's exact situation.

Excuse me a moment.

I am reminded that I perhaps should have pointed out that when I led you through the changes that occurred during this case because of the updating of the formula, and so on, and how the return on equity was reduced, prior to the close of -- what we thought was going to be the close of the case, Mr. Buonaguro suggests that changes like that would affect the work programs that Hydro One would undertake, had they known about it during the budget planning process.

I submit that is not correct.  This company will do the work that it needs to do, so far as it is able to do so, and changes in its return on equity aren't going to affect the work programs in a given year.  Maybe long term it will, but not in the short term.  So that is not a change that ought to be taken into account, which really goes to Ms. Chaplin's question, I think.

If there were some other major, major factors to take into account, you perhaps might want to take them into account, but we have never done that.  The usual thing in these cases is that the only thing that is updated is the cost of capital, because of the application of your formula.  And that is what we are asking you to do in this case.

One last point I will make.  When my client applied to use your formula, it and everybody else knew that the values derived at the beginning of the case would change with the updates.

My client was prepared to live with the changes, up or down.  And when it was thought they were going down, as has been pointed out to you this morning, my client accepted it and said, in fact, this would reduce the rate impact, fortuitously, through the application of your formula.

Now we are in a position where it's going the other way, in this one instance.  It is important to the integrity of this process that we be consistent and make decisions based on principle, not on the outcome in a particular case, I submit.

I would just ask you to consider, if I were here today arguing -- if it had gone the other way, as it may well next time around, and I was here arguing before you that your refreshed cost of capital formula should not be applied in this case because it would reduce the return on equity, how much credence would you give me?  Not very much, I submit.

If it had gone the other way, there would be a clamouring to apply the formula, and, if I resisted that on behalf of the applicant, I ask you to consider what kind of reception I would get.

And so the principle, I submit, is important, and I ask you to review your decision in the unique circumstances of this case.  It is nobody's fault.  We are just in this position, and we have to find a solution to preserve the integrity of the process that includes the real cost of capital for 2010.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much for your attention.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

We will adjourn for -- Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman.  I know I don't have a right to speak after reply, but I am concerned that my friend, Mr. Rogers, may have -- in how he expressed something, have inadvertently misled you as to what his application in 2008 included.

So I wanted to draw your attention to page 5 of Mr. Buonaguro's materials, which specifically is the evidence filed and the request made by the applicant for cost of capital in this particular proceeding.

It specifically refers to, and says it is asking for, the formula under the 2006 report.

MR. ROGERS:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry to raise that, but I didn't want to leave that without -- as ambiguous as it was.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has that material in front of it, Mr. Shepherd.  Thank you.

The Board will adjourn for 20 minutes.  We will come back at ten after 12:00 to indicate where -- what our process will be with respect to this motion, and so we will be back in 20 minutes.  Thanks very much.

--- Recess taken at 11:50 a.m.


--- On resuming at 12:18 p.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

The Board will issue a written decision hopefully in the very near future.  Unless there is anything else to deal with, with respect to this motion, we will adjourn.

Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon hearing adjourned at 12:18 p.m.
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